### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1272

BOBBY RALEIGH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. Attorneys at Law 141 NE 30<sup>th</sup> Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Citations in this brief to designate references to the
records, followed by the appropriate page number, are as follows
"T" - Record on appeal to this Court in the 1997 direct
appeal;
"FTR" - Record from trial of co-defendant Domingo
Figueroa;
"PC-T" - Record on appeal to this Court from initial
Rule 3.851 from the denial of post-conviction relief after an
evidentiary hearing;
"PC-R2" - Record on appeal to this Court in the appeal
from the summary denial of post-conviction relief on Mr.
Raleigh's second Rule 3.851 motion;
"PC-R3" - Record on appeal to this Court in the current
appeal from the summary denial of post-conviction relief;
All other citations will be self-explanatory or will
otherwise be explained.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTi
TABLE OF CONTENTSii
TABLE OF AUTHORITIESiii
INTRODUCTION1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE9
A. Procedural History10
B. Relevant Facts19
STANDARD OF REVIEW33
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT34
ARGUMENT
PORTER V. McCOLLUM QUALIFIES AS NEW FLORIDA LAW UNDER WITT V. STATE, AND MR. RALEIGH'S SENTENCE OF DEATH VIOLATES THE SIXTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS UNDER THE PROPER STRICKLAND ANALYSIS FOR THE REASONS EXPLAINED IN PORTER V. McCOLLUM 35
A. INTRODUCTION35
B. MR. RALEIGH'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM
C. <u>PORTER</u> QUALIFIES UNDER <u>WITT</u> AS A DECISION FROM THE U.S. SUPREME COURT WHICH WARRANTS REVISITING MR. RALEIGH'S PREVIOUSLY PRESENTED INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIMS
D. <u>PORTER V. MCCOLLUM</u> AND THE PREJUDICE PRONG OF MR.  RALEIGH'S PENALTY PHASE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF  COUNSEL CLAIM
60
CONCLUSION 66
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 66
CERTIFICATE OF FONT

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985)12, 48
<u>Armstrong v. Dugger</u> , 833 F.2d 1430 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987)5
Bertolotti v. State, 534 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1988)64
Booker v. Singletary, 90 F.3d 440 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996)
<u>Bradshaw v. Stumpf</u> , 545 U.S. 175 (2005)16
<u>Cherry v. State</u> , 781 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2001)
<u>Delap v. Dugger</u> , 513 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1987)54, 56, 5
<u>Delap v. Dugger</u> , 890 F.2d 285 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989)
Demps v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1987)54
<u>Diaz v. Dugger</u> , 719 So. 2d 865 (Fla. 1998)63
Downs v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987)
Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992)
<u>Furman v. Georgia</u> , 408 U.S. 238 (1972)
Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999)
Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420 (1980)52

Grossman v. Dugger,
708 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1997)63, 64
<u>Hall v. State</u> , 541 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Hardwick v. Crosby</u> ,  320 F.2d 1127 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003)
Hitchcock v. Dugger,
481 U.S. 393 (1987)
<u>Horton v. Zant</u> , 941 F.2d 1449 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991)43, 47
Hudson v. State,
614 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1993)63
James v. State,
615 F.3d 668 (Fla. 1993)
<u>Kennedy v. State</u> , 547 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1989)63
Koon v. Dugger,
619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993)63
<u>Kyles v. Whitley</u> , 514 U.S. 419 (1995)51
514 U.S. 419 (1995)51
<u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u> ,  549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989)33
<u>Linkletter v. Walker,</u> 381 U.S. 618 (1965)53
Lockett v. Ohio,
438 U.S. 586 (1978)
<u>Marek v. Dugger</u> , 547 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1989)64
Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988)59, 60
Peede v. State,
748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999)33

Penry v. Lynaugh,
Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302 (1989)62
<u>Phillips v. State</u> , 608 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1992)63
Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001)
Porter v. McCollum,  130 S.Ct. 447 (2009)
Raleigh v. State 705 So. 2d 1324 (Fla. 1997) 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 12
Raleigh v. State 932 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 2006)16, 21, 43, 44
Riley v. Wainwright, 517 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 1987)54
Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996)63, 64
<u>Sears v. Upton</u> , 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010)
<u>Smalley v. State</u> , 546 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 1989)59
<u>Smith v. State</u> , 998 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 2008)14
Sochor v. State, 883 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2004)
<u>Stephens v. State</u> , 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999)49, 63, 64, 65
<u>Stovall v. Denno</u> ,  388 U.S. 293 (1967)53
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)passim
<u>Stumpf v. Houk</u> , 653 F.3d 426 (6 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011)

Teague V. Lane,
489 U.S. 288 (1989)
Thompson v. Dugger,
515 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1987)
United States v. Martin Linen Supply Co.,
430 U.S. 564 (1977)51
Williams v. Taylor,
529 U.S. 362 (2000)62
Witt v. State,
387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980)passim

#### INTRODUCTION

At Mr. Raleigh's penalty phase proceeding before his jury, the State presented a statement made by Mr. Raleigh's codefendant, Domingo Figueroa, to the police that blamed Mr. Raleigh for killing both victims. In the statement introduced into evidence, Figueroa indicated that he "was outside" when "Bobby Allen Raleigh killed Mr. Cox and Mr. Eberlin" (T. 1129).

Based on this evidence, the presiding judge made the following finding as to heinous, atrocious or cruel when sentencing Mr. Raleigh to death:

This aggravator was established by the evidence. Raleigh returned from killing Cox then shot a screaming Eberlin several times. Raleigh's gun jammed, and Eberlin kept screaming. Eberlin cowered in a corner trying to escape. Raleigh then savagely beat Eberlin in the head with the barrel of the 9MM (see State Exhibits 47-49). This beating occurred while Eberlin was still alive. The beating was so savage that the barrel penetrated Eberlin's skull (see State Exhibit 50). Timothy Eberlin's killing was pitiless, shockingly evil, and unnecessarily torturous.

Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d 1324, 1329-30 (Fla. 1997). Also

During the cross-examination of Investigator Horzepa, Mr. Raleigh's trial counsel briefly questioned him about co-defendant Figueroa's taped statement to law enforcement. It was elicited that 1) Figueroa told Horzepa about a fight a Club Europe during which one of the victims, Douglas Cox, called his aunt a name, 2) Figueroa didn't provide any information as to where the guns were, and 3) Horzepa didn't recall asking Figueroa about the safe where the guns were kept (T. 1116-20). On redirect, the State introduced the entirety of Figueroa's taped statement without any objection by Mr. Raleigh's counsel (T. 1125). At no time did Mr. Raleigh's counsel seek to introduce Figueroa's contradictory statements to his uncle admitting that he committed one of the killings.

based upon this evidence, the judge rejected the statutory mitigator of substantial domination finding:

The Court does not find this statutory mitigator to have been reasonably established. Looking to the murders, it was Raleigh and Raleigh alone who killed Cox in his sleep. It was Raleigh who finished off Eberlin at close range. It was also Raleigh, not Figueroa, who went to the trailer, the first time with a 9MM. Raleigh was the principal perpetrator during the two murders. Finally, the evidence indicated it was Raleigh, not Figueroa, who may have wanted a piece of Cox's drug trade.

Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d at 1330 (emphasis added). It was also based upon this evidence that Mr. Raleigh killed both victims that the life sentences that Figueroa received were rejected as mitigating:

As previously pointed out, Raleigh was the principal perpetrator in these killings. Figueroa, while a participant, played a lesser role. So the distinction in the sentences is logical and warranted.

### Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d at 1331.

However at Figueroa's trial which was subsequent in time to Mr. Raleigh's penalty phase, the evidence presented by the State painted an entirely different picture. The State presented evidence of Figueroa's confession to his uncle that he, Figueroa, killed one of the victims (FTR. 675-715). The prosecutor argued to Figueroa's jury that Figueroa "told his uncle the truth" (FTR. 1374). The prosecutor told Figueroa's jury that Figueroa was in charge, and that he shot and nicked Eberlin and then his gun jammed. So he ordered Mr. Raleigh to shoot Eberlin, but Mr.

Raleigh fired wildly due to his drunken state. Figueroa got his gun unjammed, and then shot Eberlin and killed him:

Eberlin hearing the gunshots, bam, bam, bam, begins to scream. He tells you that in that statement that you heard. He's screaming. Why is he screaming? He knows that he's next. And when he starts to scream, he tells you that Raleigh tells him to shoot him. But I'm going to change that around just a little bit and see if this might not work. Bam, bam, bam, in the other Cox bedroom. Oh! Bam. (Witness gestures) Tried to cover yourself. You have your arms up. You see the guy point the gun at you and you try to cover yourself (Attorney gestures). Think about it. It would work for the elbow shot. The guy's about to shoot you, so you cover yourself. It's a normal reaction. Bam. Shot in the elbow. Does that explain the bullet to the window? I don't know. I wasn't there. It could. It might now.

He's shot in the elbow and just like with the FDLE expert, Suzanne or Susan Komar, when she testified yesterday, she told you on her second shot with that very .380 what happened? It jammed. He tries to fire a second shot. It jams. Instead of Bobby Raleigh saying shoot him, shoot him, now who's saying with the jammed gun shoot him, shoot him. Mr. Figueroa is telling him shoot him, shoot him, because he's nicked him. He's wounded him, but he hasn't put him away.

Raleigh's in the other bedroom. He comes running when he's yelling at Raleigh to come in and shoot him and Raleigh obliges and fires away as many shots as he can get off. Of course, he's a drunken boob and a couple of bullets fly out of his gun to get some shots off and, finally, Figueroa is able to clear his gun and shoots a second time.

\* \* \*

If it's gone to the right or slightly back to the right, as these guns seem to have that process in doing, it would kind of put you here (Attorney indicated) and if my scenario is correct, by the time that Figueroa is going to shoot his second bullet when he finally clears that gun, he would have to shoot it

probably almost right through Raleigh or come pretty darn close if he stays right there in the doorway.

so he walks over here, being the big brave guy he is because the guy's on the floor obviously wounded, and he shoots him again. According to Ms. Komar, that would be consistent with how the gun or casing, the .380 casing, bounced off the wall and came to rest on top of that shirt as you've heard over there. Is that how it happened? It's consistent.

(FTR. 1364-67) (emphasis added).

The prosecutor's argument at Figueroa's trial was directly contrary to the finding that the "heinous, atrocious or cruel" aggravator had been established beyond a reasonable doubt in Mr. Raleigh's case. Again, the judge there had found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Raleigh:

returned from killing Cox then shot a screaming Eberlin several times. Raleigh's gun jammed, and Eberlin kept screaming. Eberlin cowered in a corner trying to escape. Raleigh then savagely beat Eberlin in the head with the barrel of the 9MM (see State Exhibits 47-49).

Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d at  $1329-30.^2$ 

The prosecutor's argument at Figueroa's trial was also contrary to the trial judge's finding in support of the avoiding arrest aggravator. In finding that aggravator beyond a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>According to the prosecutor at Figueroa's trial, Mr. Raleigh was "a drunken boob" during the crime (FTR. 1366).

reasonable doubt, the trial judge found that:

[t]he dominant motive for the murder of Eberlin was witness elimination (see <u>Correll v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla.1988)). He knew the Defendant was seeking out Cox, saw the Defendant go towards Cox, then heard the shots. He knew what happened and who did it. Additionally, there was no evidence Eberlin, unlike Cox, was involved in the drug trade or caused the earlier incident at the Club Europe. So the only reason for the murder of Eberlin was witness elimination.

# Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d at 1329.3

It was also contrary to the basis for the judge's rejection of the statutory mitigator of substantial domination in Mr. Raleigh's case:

The Court does not find this statutory mitigator to have been reasonably established. Looking to the murders, it was Raleigh and Raleigh alone who killed Cox in his sleep. It was Raleigh who finished off Eberlin at close range. It was also Raleigh, not Figueroa, who went to the trailer, the first time with a 9MM. Raleigh was the principal perpetrator during the two murders. Finally, the evidence indicated it was Raleigh, not Figueroa, who may have wanted a piece of Cox's drug trade.

Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d at 1330 (emphasis added).4

And, it was contrary to the finding justifying the rejection of the life sentences that Figueroa received as mitigating evidence as to Mr. Raleigh:

As previously pointed out, Raleigh was the principal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>According to the prosecutor at Figueroa's trial, Mr. Raleigh was "a drunken boob" during the crime (FTR. 1366).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Again, according to the prosecutor at Figueroa's trial, Mr. Raleigh was "a drunken boob" during the crime (FTR. 1366).

perpetrator in these killings. Figueroa, while a participant, played a lesser role. So the distinction in the sentences is logical and warranted.

Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d at 1331.<sup>5</sup>

Finally, this Court on the basis of the record at Mr.

Raleigh's trial rejected the statutory mitigator of "extreme mental or emotional disturbance" saying: "This Court cannot find, however, that his condition was 'extreme'. He acted too purposefully". Raleigh v. State, 705 So. 2d at 1330. While at Figueroa's trial based upon Figueroa's statement to his uncle, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Raleigh was "a drunken boob." 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Again, according to the prosecutor at Figueroa's trial, Mr. Raleigh was "a drunken boob" during the crime (FTR. 1366).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The prosecutor's description of Mr. Raleigh at Figueroa's trial as "a drunken boob" is also inconsistent with the judge's finding when sentencing Mr. Raleigh to death that the "cold, calculated and premeditated" aggravator applied.

Of course, Figueroa's statement to the police was inadmissible at Mr. Raleigh's trial under the Confrontation

Clause. Yet, defense counsel did not object to its introduction.

In fact, it was defense counsel's cross-examination of

Investigator Horzepa that caused the State to introduce the statement into evidence. And then once the inadmissible evidence was introduced without objection, defense counsel failed to present available evidence of Figueroa's contradictory statement

to his uncle admitting that not only was he present inside the

counsel's performance when properly analyzed under Porter v.

McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), was deficient and prejudicial.

trailer, but that he was responsible for killing Eberlin. 7 Trial

Recently, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals addressed circumstances to those in Mr. Raleigh's case and found habeas relief was warranted. Stumpf v. Houk, 653 F.3d 426, 436 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011):

In our earlier decision in this matter, we joined with other circuits "in finding that the use of

During Mr. Raleigh's first post-conviction proceedings, an evidentiary hearing was conducted. At that hearing, the trial prosecutors testified that no additional evidence was developed between the time of Mr. Raleigh's trial in August of 1995 and Figueroa's trial in January of 1996 that changed the State's assessment of the defendants relative culpability (PCT. 302-03, 321). According to the prosecutors, all evidence favorable to Mr. Raleigh regarding his relative culpability was disclosed to his trial counsel (PCT. 302, 321). So, Mr. Raleigh's trial counsel should have been aware of Figueroa's statement to his uncle. Yet, this evidence was not presented to rebut Figueroa's statement to the police which was introduced by the State.

inconsistent, irreconcilable theories to convict two defendants for the same crime is a due process violation." Stumpf v. Mitchell, 367 F.3d at 611. In doing so, we cited with approval Smith v. Groose, 205 F.3d 1045 (8th Cir.2000), for the proposition that such inconsistencies "render[ ] convictions unreliable, given that '[the s]tate's duty to its citizens does not allow it to pursue as many convictions as possible without regard to fairness and the search for truth." Stumpf v. Mitchell, 367 F.3d at 612 (quoting Smith, 205 F.3d at 1051). We also quoted the following portion of the Ninth Circuit's decision in Thompson v. Calderon, 120 F.3d 1045, 1059 (9th Cir.1997) ( en banc ), vacated on other grounds, 523 U.S. 538, 118 S.Ct. 1489, 140 L.Ed.2d 728 (1998), which in turn quoted from a special concurring opinion by Judge Clark of the Eleventh Circuit in Drake v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 1449, 1479 (11th Cir.1985) (Clark, J., concurring):

[T]he prosecutor's theories of the same crime in the two different trials negate one another. They are totally inconsistent. This flip[-]flopping of theories of the offense was inherently unfair. Under the peculiar facts of this case the actions by the prosecutor violate the fundamental fairness essential to the very concept of justice.... The state cannot divide and conquer in this manner. Such actions reduce criminal trials to mere gamesmanship and rob them of their supposed search for the truth.

The Supreme Court disagreed with our conclusion that the due process violation undermined Stumpf's conviction because, under Ohio law, "the precise identity of the triggerman was immaterial to Stumpf's conviction for aggravated murder." Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. at 187, 125 S.Ct. 2398. As a result, the conflicting theories presented to the Stumpf factfinders and to the Wesley factfinders regarding which of the two men shot and killed Mrs. Stout on that fateful May 1984 day in no way affected the reliability of the determination that Stumpf was guilty of aggravated murder in her death.

But, our constitutional duty to ensure the reliability of capital sentencing—to ensure that all individuals are accorded due process before our state and federal judicial institutions—is not relieved by the Supreme Court's limited ruling in Bradshaw v. Stumpf. Indeed,

the Supreme Court itself recognized in its opinion that "[t]he prosecutor's use of allegedly inconsistent theories may have a more direct effect on Stumpf's sentence ... for it is at least arguable that the sentencing panel's conclusion about Stumpf's role in the offense was material to its sentencing determination." Id.

Our examination of the voluminous appellate record leads us to the inescapable conclusion that it is much more than "arguable" that Stumpf's sentencers were swayed by the ultimately-unreliable presentation by the representative of the State of Ohio. In fact, we are convinced that it would amount to nothing short of complete abdication of our sworn responsibilities to ensure the reliability of capital sentencing were we to presume that the state's later-recanted argument that the petitioner was the triggerman in Mrs. Stout's murder did not affect the panel's sentencing decision. Our confidence in our conclusion is buttressed not only by common sense, but also by the words of the various individuals actually involved in the sentencing decision.

In Mr. Raleigh's case, the findings of fact made by the judge in imposing a sentence of death which were premised upon inaccurate statements made by Figueroa to law enforcement were contradicted by Figueroa's statements to his uncle which the State introduced at Figueroa's trial. The difference in the evidence between the two proceedings here was due to trial counsel's failure to object to the inadmissible statement and/or his failure once it was introduced by the State to present the evidence of Figueroa's statements to his uncle rebutting the statement to the police. As a result, the proceeding was not the constitutionally guaranteed adequate adversarial testing in a "supposed search for the truth." Stumpf v. Houk, 653 F.3d at 436. Instead, the proceedings amounted to a board game in which

Mr. Raleigh's counsel failed to properly function. The findings made by the judge in imposing a death sentence on Mr. Raleigh were contradicted by the evidence the State presented at Figueroa's trial. The findings in support of Mr. Raleigh's death sentence were the result of trial counsel's failure to tell the rest of the story. The resulting death sentence stands in violation of due process and fundamental fairness. It can only continue to stand by willful ignoring the contradictory evidence presented by the State at Figueroa's trial which Mr. Raleigh's counsel failed to present on Mr. Raleigh's behalf.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Procedural History

Mr. Raleigh and his co-defendant, Domingo Figueroa, were charged by indictment in the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, Volusia County, Florida, with two counts of first degree murder, one count of burglary, and one count of shooting into a building.

Mr. Raleigh pled guilty on June 6, 1995. Thereafter, a jury was selected for a penalty phase proceeding. The jury, by a vote of 12-0, recommended a sentence of death on August 15, 1995. On February 16, 1996, the trial judge sentenced Mr. Raleigh to death. In his sentencing order, the trial judge found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) prior violent felony (applied to both Cox and Eberlin); (2) that the murders were

committed while engaged in a burglary (applied to the murders of both Cox and Eberlin); (3) that the murder of Cox was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP); (4) that the murder of Eberlin was committed to avoid arrest or effect escape; and (5) that the murder of Eberlin was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC). Raleigh, 705 So. 2d at 1327 n.1. The trial court found one statutory and fifteen nonstatutory mitigators. statutory mitigator is Raleigh's age--he was nineteen at the time of the crime. Id. at 1327 n.2. The nonstatutory mitigators were that the defendant (1) was intoxicated; (2) was remorseful; (3) pled guilty; (4) offered to testify against codefendant Figueroa; (5) could probably adjust well to prison life; (6) was a good son and friend to his mother; (7) was a good brother; (8) was a good father figure to ex-girlfriend's daughter; (9) was born into dysfunctional family; (10) did not know who fathered him; (11) attempted suicide; (12) had low self-esteem; (13) suffered from an adjustment disorder and was antisocial; (14) used poor judgment and engaged in impulsive behavior; and (15) was a follower. Id. at 1327 n.3.

In his direct appeal, Mr. Raleigh argued the trial court erred in (1) failing to instruct the jury on the "no significant history of criminal activity" statutory mitigator; (2) instructing the jury on the "pecuniary gain" aggravator; (3) failing to give the requested instruction on the CCP aggravator;

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