#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### CASE NO. SC11-1272

\_\_\_\_\_

BOBBY RALEIGH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

-----

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

PAMELA J. BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Fla. Bar No. 998818
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., 5th Floor
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118
(386)238-4990
FAX-(386)226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On December 1, 2011, this Court decided Walton v. State, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S702 (Fla. Dec. 1, 2011), which explicitly rejected the precise *Porter* claim contained in Raleigh's brief. This claim is not viable.

While Walton is in all respects dispositive of this claim, there are additional reasons for affirming the denial of relief. Raleigh's successive Rule 3.851 motion is time-barred and does not come within any exception to Rule 3.851(d)(2). Despite Raleigh's insistence to the contrary, Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) is no more than the United States Supreme Court's application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), to the particular facts of that case. The Supreme Court did not hold that the Porter decision established a new fundamental constitutional right that is to apply retroactively.

The trial court held Raleigh's motion untimely, successive, procedurally barred, unauthorized and failed to present any new fundamental constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(B). (V2, R267). These rulings should be affirmed.

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits summary denial of a successive motion for post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." Williamson v. State, 961 So. 2d 229, 234 (Fla. 2007). This Court reviews the circuit court's decision to

summarily deny a successive rule 3.851 motion *de novo*, accepting the movant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not refuted by the record, and affirming the ruling if the record conclusively shows that the movant is entitled to no relief. *Walton v. State*, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009), *citing State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003); *Fla. R.Crim. P.* 3.851(f)(5)(B).

In order to support summary denial, "the trial court must either state its rationale in the order denying relief or attach portions of the record that would refute the claims." Nixon v. State, 932 So. 2d 1009, 1018 (Fla. 2006). Here, as in Rose v. State, 985 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 2008), the trial court entered a comprehensive written order disclosing the basis for the summary denial of Raleigh's successive motion to vacate and providing for meaningful appellate review. Id., citing Nixon, 932 So. 2d at 1018.

#### ARGUMENT

TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE SUCCESSIVE MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF. RALEIGH'S RULE 3.851 MOTION TO VACATE UNTIMELY, SUCCESSIVE, PROCEDURALLY BARRED, UNAUTHORIZED AND FAILED TO PRESENT ANY NEW FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT THAT HAS BEEN HELD TO APPLY RETROACTIVELY

Raleigh asserts an entitlement to relitigate his ineffective assistance of counsel claims on the ground that Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. ---, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009) allegedly

changed the *Strickland* prejudice analysis and should be retroactively applied. This claim was squarely rejected by this Court in *Walton*, where this Court held:

The trial level postconviction court here properly denied Walton's second successive postconviction because the decision in Porter fundamental change in the constitute a law mandates retroactive application under Witt. Walton filed his motion well after the one-year deadline for rule 3.851. postconviction motions under claim that Porter applies retroactively is incorrect and insufficient as a matter of law for a successive motion because the decision in Porter does not concern a major change in constitutional law of fundamental significance. Rather, Porter involved а application and evolutionary refinement and development of the Strickland analysis, i.e., addressed a misapplication of Strickland. satisfy therefore, does not the retroactivity requirements of Witt. See generally Witt, 387 So. 2d at 924-31.

Further, in the proceedings below, collateral counsel essentially asked the postconviction trial court to reevaluate Walton's claims of ineffective assistance counsel that had been litigated in his prior postconviction motion in light of the decision in Porter. This is not a permitted retroactive application as articulated in Witt, which allows a limited retroactive application only to changes in the of fundamental that are constitutional law significance.

Therefore, we affirm the postconviction court's denial of Walton's second successive postconviction motion.

Walton v. State, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S702 (Fla. Dec. 1, 2011). Walton is dispositive, and there is no need or justification for the expenditure of any further resources on Raleigh's Porter claim.

### Raleigh's claim is procedurally barred.

In addition to being foreclosed by binding precedent, Raleigh's "Porter claim" is time barred, and no exception to the time bar exists. Raleigh does no more than re-argue facts adduced in the prior postconviction proceedings -- those issues were decided by this Court in 2006 and are procedurally barred. Raleigh v. State, 932 So. 2d 1054, 1056-1059 (Fla. 2006).

Raleigh previously raised the same claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that he seeks to relitigate here, and this Court decided that claim. As this Court has held, attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Raleigh cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). It is also well-established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Raleigh is attempting to do here, his guilt phase ineffectiveness claim is barred and was correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

#### The appellate review process.

Porter did not address, much less change, the appellate standard of review of factual findings. In fact, the United States Supreme Court never even mentioned the standard of review for factual findings in Porter. See Porter, 130 S. Ct. at 448-56. In Strickland, the United States Supreme Court stated that reviewing courts are required to give deference to factual findings made in resolving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and then review the rejection of the claim de novo. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698. The United States Supreme Court addressed the extent to which the appellate or federal courts review the findings of the trial court and explained:

Although state court findings of fact made in the course of deciding an ineffectiveness claim are subject to the deference requirement of § 2254(d), and although district court findings are subject to the clearly erroneous standard of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a), both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698, 104 S.Ct. at 2070.

In this Court's decision in *Porter*, 788 So. 2d at 923, this Court cited *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, n.2 (Fla. 1999) and stated that while the factual findings of the lower court should be given deference, the appellate court independently reviews mixed question of law and fact. The *Stephens* standard of review is expressly compelled by *Strickland*. This Court has not

been misapplying Strickland's standard of review. deference to the lower court findings of fact and independently reviewing mixed questions of law and fact is consistent with Strickland. Since the standard utilized by this Court in Porter is the same standard the United States Supreme Court enunciated in Strickland, there is no change in law. Because there has been no change in law, Raleigh failed to meet any exception under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(B), as the circuit court correctly found. (V2, R267). However, Raleigh says that because Sochor v. State, 883 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2004) cited to Porter, this Court's analysis in Sochor must have been flawed. (Initial Brief at 62). Sochor cited to Porter as a case which also involved conflicting expert opinions and in connection with its finding "that the circuit court's decision to credit the testimony of the State's mental health experts over the testimony of Sochor's new experts is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Sochor, 883 So. 2d at 783, citing Porter. Again, this finding is in accordance with the mixed standard of review applied in Strickland.

As previously noted, the appellate review standard approved in *Stephens* (for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel) was held to not be retroactive under *Witt* in *Johnston v. Moore*, 789 So. 2d 262, 267 (Fla. 2001). The courts of this State have extensively relied upon the *Stephens* standard of review and continue to do so today. *See Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828, 834

(Fla. 2011) (stating, "[b]ecause ineffective assistance of counsel claims present mixed questions of fact and law, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent substantial evidence, but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions de novo. See Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766, 771-72 (Fla. 2004) (citing Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999))." Thus, if Porter, as construed by Raleigh, is deemed a retroactive "change" in the law, the effect on the administration of justice would be overwhelming.

Raleigh's reliance on Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010) also is misplaced. (Initial Brief at 35, 43, 48, 50). In Sears, the Georgia post-conviction court found trial counsel's performance deficient under Strickland, but then stated that it was unable to assess whether counsel's inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Sears. Id. at 3261. In Sears, the United States Supreme Court did not find that it was improper for a trial court to make factual findings in ruling on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or for a reviewing court to defer to those findings. Instead, the Supreme Court reversed because it did not believe that the lower courts had made findings about the evidence presented. Id. at 3261. Sears does not support the assertion that the making of findings or giving deference in reviewing findings is inappropriate.

#### RALEIGH IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF.

This Court's decision in Walton removed any doubt that Porter establishes any grounds for relief. The circuit court found that Raleigh's successive motion was "untimely, successive, procedurally barred, unauthorized and fail[ed] to present any new fundamental constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively." (R267). There can be no colorable argument that that result is incorrect.

## Collateral Counsel is not authorized to file this successive motion to vacate.

Finally, pursuant to §27.702, "[t]he capital collateral regional counsel and the attorneys appointed pursuant to §27.710 shall file only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute." This Court has recognized the legislative intent to limit collateral counsel's role in capital post-conviction proceedings. See State v. Kilgore, 976 So. 2d 1066, 1068-1069 (Fla. 2007).

The term "postconviction capital collateral proceedings" is defined in  $\S 27.711(1)(c)$ , Fla. Stat., as follows:

"Postconviction capital collateral proceedings" means one series of collateral litigation of an affirmed conviction and sentence of death, including the proceedings in the trial court that imposed the capital sentence, any appellate review of the sentence by the Supreme Court, any certiorari review of the sentence by the United States Supreme Court, and any authorized federal habeas corpus litigation with

respect to the sentence. The term does not include repetitive or successive collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence of death which is affirmed by the Supreme Court and undisturbed by any collateral litigation.

§27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat. Accordingly, Raleigh's counsel was not authorized to file this patently frivolous, repetitive and successive motion.

In addition to having no legal basis because *Porter* is not retroactively available to him, Raleigh is not entitled to any relief because collateral counsel is not authorized to file the unauthorized successive motion to vacate. The trial court's order summarily denying Raleigh's successive motion to vacate should be affirmed in all respects.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the authorities and arguments herein, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the order of the circuit court and deny all relief.